2008

Haynes Land & Livestock Company, a partnership v. Jacob Family Chalk Creek, LLC, a limited liability company; et al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where a court determines that a road has been dedicated to the public by use for ten years, may the court then delegate to a county the determination of the road's width?

Standard of review: The trial court determined that Utah Code § 72-5-108 directs that the width of highways, including highways dedicated by user, be determined by the highway authority of that particular jurisdiction. The appeal of this decision presents a question of statutory construction that is reviewed for correctness.⁶

Preservation below: The Haynes parties requested that the trial court determine width in Plaintiffs' Trial Brief.⁷ This issue was also raised in Haynes' Motion for Reconsideration of Road Width.⁸

2. Where a party has sued to quiet title, asserting that defendant had no rights of travel over plaintiff's property other than rights already of record, and the defendant did not

⁵R-Haynes 1697.

⁶*Reese v. Tingey Constr.*, 2008 UT 7, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 605, 607.

⁷R-Haynes 1271-1273. The trial court's statement that the width issue "was not mentioned in pre-trial briefs," R-Haynes 1470, is incorrect.

⁸R-Haynes 1500-1503.

dispute plaintiff's legal title but claimed and proved only a particular public road across plaintiff's property, was plaintiff entitled to a decree that defendant had no other rights of travel across plaintiff's property?

Standard of review: This issue does not challenge the trial court's findings but disputes the conclusions of law. "While findings of fact will not be set aside unless they are clearly erroneous, conclusions of law are simply reviewed for correctness without any special deference."⁹

Preservation below: The Haynes parties raised this issue below in Haynes' Objection to Jacob-Christensen's Proposed Form of Order.¹⁰

3. Where an owner abandons a road to the public by permitting limited use, may the court fix the width of the road based on contemplated future uses that are significantly more burdensome than the uses permitted by the landowner?

Standard of review: This presents issues of constitutional and statutory construction that are reviewed for correctness.

Preservation below: This was raised in the pretrial¹¹ and post-trial¹² memoranda filed by Haynes.

⁹*Western Kane County Special Serv. Dist. No. 1 v. Jackson Cattle Co.*, 744 P.2d 1376, 1377-1378 (Utah 1987).

¹⁰R-Haynes 1526, 1633-34.

¹¹R-Haynes 1271-1273.

¹²R-Haynes 1374-1376.

4. Should occasional travel over wild, uncultivated, and unenclosed land be considered permissive?

Standard of review: “An appellate court reviews a trial court’s legal interpretation of the Dedication Statute for correctness and its factual findings for clear error.”¹³ Where the court exercises its discretion based on a misunderstanding of the law, however, that constitutes an abuse of discretion.¹⁴

Preservation below: This was argued in the post-trial memorandum of Haynes.¹⁵

5. Where a survey map showed a road existed, did comments in journals and other historic documents showing sporadic activities in a particular area, without mentioning travel over the roads or specifying a path of travel, constitute clear and convincing evidence of continuous public, non-permissive use of the entire length of the road?

Standard of review: “But whether the facts of a case satisfy the requirements of the Dedication Statute is a mixed question of fact and law that involves various and complex facts, evidentiary resolutions, and credibility determinations. Thus, an appellate court reviews a trial court’s decision regarding whether a public highway has been established under the Dedication Statute for correctness but grants the court significant discretion in its

¹³*Wasatch County v. Okelberry*, 2008 UT 10, ¶ 8, 179 P.3d 768.

¹⁴*Gaw v. State*, 798 P.2d 1130, 1134 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

¹⁵R-Haynes 1367-1368.

application of the facts to the statute.”¹⁶ Where the court exercises its discretion based on a misunderstanding of the law, however, that constitutes an abuse of discretion.¹⁷

Preservation below: A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence need not be “preserved” by raising it before the trial court.¹⁸ Haynes did, however, argue that the evidence of public use was not clear and convincing.¹⁹

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS OF LAW

Utah Code § 72-5-104(1) (2006): “A highway is dedicated and abandoned to the use of the public when it has been continuously used as a public thoroughfare for a period of ten years.”

Utah Code § 72-5-108: “The width of rights-of-way for public highways shall be set as the highway authorities of the state, counties, or municipalities may determine for the highways under their respective jurisdiction.”

¹⁶*Wasatch County v. Okelberry*, 2008 UT 10, ¶ 8, 179 P.3d 768.

¹⁷*Gaw v. State*, 798 P.2d 1130, 1134 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

¹⁸*ProMax Dev. Corp. v. Mattson*, 943 P.2d 247, 256 (Ct. App. 1997), *cert. denied*, 953 P.2d 449 (Utah 1997).

¹⁹R-Haynes 1364-1366.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is a civil case seeking a declaration that certain roads were private. Other parties asserted that the roads became public under Utah Code § 72-5-104(1) (2006) or that other easements existed.

B. Course of the Proceedings and Disposition Below

Haynes Land & Livestock Company (“Haynes”) sued its adjoining landowners, Jacob Family Chalk Creek, Limited,²⁰ Catherine B. Christensen, L.L.C., and Brian Garff (jointly referred to in this brief as “Jacobs”), seeking a determination that Jacobs had no rights of travel over the Haynes property beyond existing recorded easements.²¹ Haynes also sought to enjoin Garff from constructing a sizeable building on the Jacobs property.²² Summit County was initially named as a defendant²³ but was later dismissed.²⁴ Jacobs counterclaimed to establish that the roads over the Haynes property were public or subject to easements in favor of Jacobs.²⁵

²⁰Jacob Family Chalk Creek, LLC, later acquired the title and was substituted as a party. R-Haynes 1162-1164.

²¹R-Haynes 1-9.

²²R-Haynes 5-6.

²³R-Haynes 6-7.

²⁴R-Haynes 54-55.

²⁵R-Haynes 65-79.

Triple H Ranch, LC, a limited liability company with the same principals as Haynes Land & Livestock Company, also commenced a suit for partition by sale against certain members of the Boyer families and others that owned interests in property surrounding Boyer Lake.²⁶ Among other allegations, the partition complaint asserted that the defendants had no lawful access to the properties. The Boyer defendants²⁷ counterclaimed, seeking among other claims a determination that a road leading to the lake was a public county road.²⁸ The defendants other than the Boyer defendants either disclaimed any interest in the property²⁹ or were dismissed from the action.³⁰ The Boyer defendants later filed an amended counterclaim and third-party complaint naming additional parties and asserting among other claims that the roads were public or that the Boyer defendants had prescriptive easements.³¹

The two lawsuits were consolidated for purposes of both discovery and trial.³² After consolidation of the cases, Jacobs filed an amended answer and counterclaim against all

²⁶R-TripleH 1-6.

²⁷Fern J. Boyer, Gerald G. Boyer, Gregory J. Boyer, J.S. Hansen, and Alfred C. Blonquist. R-TripleH 19-29.

²⁸R-TripleH 25-26.

²⁹R-TripleH 38-39 (disclaimer by Barbara Hall and Kevin Hall); R-TripleH 51 (disclaimer by Karel Snyder).

³⁰R-TripleH 40-41 (dismissing Helen W. Blonquist and Helen W. Blonquist, Trustee.)

³¹R-TripleH 81-94.

³²R-Haynes 107-110.

parties in both actions.³³ A certificate of default was entered against Stillman Seven, Barbara Hall, Kevin Hall, Helen W. Blonquist, and Karel J. Snyder.³⁴ B.A. Bingham and Sons, LLC, answered the counterclaim³⁵ but elected to not appear at trial.³⁶ David B. Williams likewise answered³⁷ but elected to not appear at trial.³⁸

Summit County was named as a defendant in the initial complaint filed by Haynes, but was later dismissed.³⁹ Summit County was subsequently brought back into the lawsuit as a defendant to the counterclaim filed by Jacobs.⁴⁰

Prior to trial, the parties stipulated and the trial court ordered that trial of the partition claims be bifurcated from the road and easement claims.⁴¹

³³R-Haynes 189-209.

³⁴R-Haynes 518-521.

³⁵R-Haynes 222-227.

³⁶Transcript vol. I, 8; R-Haynes 1316-1318.

³⁷R-Haynes 297-311.

³⁸R-Haynes 1312-1315.

³⁹R-Haynes 1-9, 54-55.

⁴⁰R-Haynes 189-209.

⁴¹R-Haynes 1155-1161, 1165-1170.

Following discovery, Jacobs moved for summary judgment on its claim for public road determination.⁴² Boyers joined in the motion.⁴³ The trial court denied the motion.⁴⁴

On October 3, 2007, the trial court, counsel, and parties participated in a day-long journey to the property at issue, crossing the Haynes and Jacob properties while counsel and others pointed out various sites.⁴⁵

A bench trial was held March 4-7, with oral arguments on March 11, 2008.⁴⁶ At the beginning of trial, Haynes stipulated that Jacobs had a prescriptive easement over the Bench Road consistent with historical use.⁴⁷ The trial court issued a memorandum decision on March 21, 2008, finding essentially that the Bench Road was public, the Middle Fork Road was public to a point just short of Boyer Lake, and that the East Fork Road was public to the middle of section 8. The court stated that it would fix the width of the road at 18 feet if called upon to make a width decision, but held that the width should instead be determined by Summit County.⁴⁸

⁴²R-Haynes 536-540.

⁴³R-Haynes 907-909.

⁴⁴R-Haynes 912-962.

⁴⁵R-Haynes 1036-1037, 1401-1402.

⁴⁶R-Haynes 1319-1327, 1339-1340.

⁴⁷Transcript vol. I, 13-14.

⁴⁸R-Haynes 1393-1477.

All parties raised various objections to the trial court's ruling. Haynes primarily sought reconsideration of the delegation of the width determination to Summit County⁴⁹ and objected to the form of order presented by Jacobs.⁵⁰ Jacobs moved to reopen to present evidence on width.⁵¹ Boyers moved to reconsider the grant to the Water Users of an easement over the Boyer property.⁵² The trial court made minor modifications to the form of order but otherwise denied the post-trial motions.⁵³ Haynes appealed⁵⁴ the trial court's decision, and Jacobs and Boyers cross-appealed.⁵⁵

C. Statement of Facts

The Chalk Creek Road, State Road 133, travels generally easterly from Coalville (in Summit County), through Upton, and eventually to Wyoming. The road at issue in this case departs to the south off the highway about seven miles east of Upton, along the East Fork of Chalk Creek.⁵⁶ A map of the properties and roads is in the appendix for the convenience of the Court.

⁴⁹R-Haynes 1500-1503, 1504-1521.

⁵⁰R-Haynes 1522-1520, 1530-1544.

⁵¹R-Haynes 1478-1481, 1482-1492.

⁵²R-Haynes 1606-1608, 1609-1618.

⁵³R-Haynes 1678-1692.

⁵⁴R-Haynes 1711-1715.

⁵⁵R-Haynes 1716-1720, 1721-1725.

⁵⁶R-Haynes 1405.

Haynes own approximately 10,000 acres of property in this area, with the northern portion of the Haynes property adjacent to Highway 133. Jacobs also own approximately 10,000 acres in the same area; their property is generally south and west of the Haynes property. The primary access to the Jacobs property is over the Haynes property.⁵⁷ Various paths of travel have existed over the properties, including particularly a rough road that loops through the properties. The road begins at Highway 133 and travels generally south over the Haynes property to the Jacobs property (Bench Road), then south and east over the Jacobs property (Middle Fork Road) to a reservoir (Boyer Lake) on property owned by the Chalk Creek-Hoytsville Water Users Corporation. The Boyer parties have an undivided interest (together with Triple H Ranch) in approximately 37 acres of property in five non-contiguous parcels surrounding Boyer Lake. From the Boyer Lake the road travels generally south and west across the Haynes property (East Fork Road) to join the Bench Road south of Highway 133.⁵⁸

The roads at issue were narrow, two-track roads ranging from 8 feet 10 feet in width.⁵⁹ The initial two miles of the Bench Road on the Haynes property was recently improved and now has an average width of 18 feet, but historically it was also 8 to 10 feet wide.⁶⁰ The

⁵⁷Exhibit 117; R-Haynes 1403-1404.

⁵⁸R-Haynes 1406-1409; Exhibit 117.

⁵⁹Transcript vol. I, 149-150; vol. II, 331-332; vol. III, 611, 620; vol. IV, 712, 797, 818.

⁶⁰*Id.*; Transcript vol. IV, 821.

entire loop is on private property and bounded by extensive private properties on both sides of the road – there are no public destinations for which the road affords access.⁶¹

Howard Haynes, a sheep rancher and father of the original principals of Haynes Land & Livestock Co., purchased the northern part of the Haynes property in 1932.⁶² He leased the remainder of what is now the Haynes property and purchased it in 1940 and 1941.⁶³ From the time of his purchase in 1932 he maintained a policy of locking the gates for 24 hours at least once each year, and also restricted access during the hunting seasons and at other times.⁶⁴

Irv Jacobs and A.E. Christensen, the predecessors of the current defendants (jointly referred to in this brief as “Jacobs”), purchased their property in 1938.⁶⁵ Jacobs have maintained a locked gate at the entrance to their property for as long as anyone can remember, and prior to this lawsuit the Jacobs believed their road was private.⁶⁶

Evidentially because the parties did not then believe a public road existed, in 1939 the predecessor to the Haynes interest conveyed to Jacobs’s predecessor an express easement over the Bench Road allowing the owners of the Jacobs property to cross the Haynes property

⁶¹See R-Haynes 1466.

⁶²Transcript vol. III, 608-609.

⁶³Exhibit 48; Transcript vol. III, 609, 645.

⁶⁴Transcript vol. III, 612, 613-617, 676-677, 709, 722, 771.

⁶⁵Transcript vol. II, 262.

⁶⁶Transcript vol. I, 166, 199, 243, 335.

for limited agricultural purposes.⁶⁷ Haynes stipulated at trial that Jacobs have also acquired a prescriptive easement over the Bench Road for recreational and other purposes relating to the existing and historical uses of the property.⁶⁸ A 1975 map of Class D roads (unimproved county roads) in Summit County shows the entire loop of the road as a public road.⁶⁹ Summit County stipulated, however, that there was no evidence the map had ever been officially adopted or approved by the Summit County commission.⁷⁰

Jacobs constructed three “cabins” on their property without objection from the Haynes.⁷¹ When Brian Garff began building a large fourth cabin, however, and Jacobs sought to expand their use beyond the scope of the historical deeded easement,⁷² Haynes filed this action to quiet title to the Haynes property and to restrict access to the historical uses.

The trial court found that the Bench Road, most of the Middle Fork Road, and a short section of the East Fork Road became public based on use from 1880 to 1896.⁷³ At that time, the even numbered sections were owned by the railroad, and the odd numbered sections were

⁶⁷Exhibits 7-9.

⁶⁸Transcript vol. I, 13-14.

⁶⁹Exhibit 114.

⁷⁰Transcript vol. IV, 876.

⁷¹Transcript vol. I, 121, 186; vol. II, 273-274; vol. III, 625.

⁷²Transcript vol. II, p. 405.

⁷³R-Haynes 1459.

federal land.⁷⁴ Historical documents show that during that period a few homesteaders staked claims on the property and a few sawmills were operated in the area.⁷⁵ There are also reports of individuals hunting and fishing in the area.⁷⁶ Additional detail concerning this evidence is presented in the argument section below.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Where a court declares that a road has been abandoned and dedicated to the public by public use, the court may either leave the road at its existing width or declare the width necessary to accommodate the historic uses. The court may not, however, delegate the determination of width to a county, especially where that county is a party to the lawsuit. Fixing the width of a road that has become public by use is a judicial function that cannot be delegated. Utah cases uniformly hold that it is the court that determines width; no case authorizes delegating that decision to a county. Utah Code § 72-5-108 authorizes a county to set minimum road standards, but does not give a county authority to “find” the width of a road dedicated to the public by use.

This Court should fix the width of the road at 18 feet, in accordance with express findings made by the trial court. In the event this Court determines to remand for additional proceedings, however, this Court should clarify that the width of the road is only that currently necessary to support the historical (1880-1896) uses. Current uses or contemplated

⁷⁴Exhibit 127; transcript vol. I, 87.

⁷⁵*E.g.*, Exhibits 137, 142.

⁷⁶*E.g.*, Exhibits 139, 161.

future uses should not be considered. Any other standard would unconstitutionally allow the public to take more than the landowner abandoned, without paying just compensation.

Haynes was entitled to a decree quieting title against all roads except those proved by the defendants. Haynes proved record title to the property. The burden of proof to establish any exceptions to that title rested on defendants. Defendants proved some roads. Haynes was entitled to a decree that no other roads existed.

No evidence was presented of ten years continuous public use of the East Fork Road. Similarly, the evidence regarding use of the Bench Road was not clear and convincing that members of the public used the road for ten continuous years. Occasional use by individuals looking for a homestead site is too sporadic to qualify as continuous public use; use by the homesteaders themselves is not use by the public. Sawmill operators had permission to build their sawmills; use of the road by their customers was similarly permissive. Most importantly, all this land was wild, unenclosed land, and this Court should hold that public use of such lands is presumed permissive.

ARGUMENT

I: ANY INCREASE IN WIDTH OF A ROAD DEDICATED TO THE PUBLIC BY USE MUST BE DETERMINED BY THE COURT; THE COUNTY CANNOT TAKE A WIDER PATH THAN THAT ABANDONED BY THE LANDOWNER.

- A. *Utah Cases Uniformly Hold That Where a Road Is Dedicated to the Public by Use, the Court Determines the Width of the Road; No Case Holds Width Is Determined by the County.*

The Order and Final Judgment entered by the trial court declared that certain roads have become public under the road dedication statute,⁷⁷ and then decreed: “The width of the portions of the Road that have been declared a public way shall be determined by Summit County, Utah according to that which is reasonable and necessary to ensure safe travel based on the facts and circumstances.”⁷⁸ The trial court made this delegation to Summit County based on the court’s interpretation of Utah Code § 72-5-108, which states: “The width of rights-of-way for public highways shall be set as the highway authorities of the state, counties, or municipalities may determine for the highways under their respective jurisdiction.”

The discussion below shows that delegating the road width determination was improper. Section 72-5-108 merely authorizes a highway authority to set road standards that must be satisfied by, for example, new roads or roads serving new developments. The statute does not and could not authorize a highway authority to take without just compensation

⁷⁷Utah Code § 72-5-104.

⁷⁸R-Haynes 1697, ¶ 12.

whatever additional property is necessary to enable an existing road to meet those standards. A court adjudicating a road dedication case can either find road width based on the evidence, or if inadequate evidence was presented the court can make no width determination and leave the road at its existing width. But, a court cannot delegate to a county or other highway authority the factual determination of how much width the landowner dedicated and abandoned to the public.

Section 72-5-108 or a predecessor statute has been in effect in Utah since at least 1917.⁷⁹ During this time of nearly 100 years, and in fact extending prior to the statute's enactment back to at least 1887, numerous decisions of the Utah appellate courts have directly or by implication confirmed that the width of a road abandoned to the public under the road dedication statute is determined by the court.⁸⁰

⁷⁹1917 Utah Laws ch. 74 § 1117.

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