2008

Haynes Land and Livestock Company v. Jacob Family Chalk Creek : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

There is no dispute in the record that prior to the Haynes parties acquiring their first interest in the land, the roads in question existed and were used by the public for myriad purposes including recreating at the lakes and in meadows along the road, trailing sheep or livestock, hunting, gathering and milling lumber and establishing homesteads to name a few. While the Appellants do dispute the sufficiency of this evidence, the evidence itself is undisputed. It is also recognized and undisputed by the Appellants that during the period between 1869 and 1896 when this road was in use and dedicated to the public by use, the odd numbered sections of land over which the road crossed were public lands.²⁷

The dedication of the road by use while on public lands not reserved for public use during this time period classifies this road as an R.S. 2477 road under the provisions of UTAH CODE ANN. 72-5-302 and 43 U.S.C. §932 (now repealed). As an R.S. 2477 road, the width of the road has

²⁶R: 1467-1474, 1687

²⁷R: 1413

been presumptively predetermined by the State of Utah as being 66 feet in width.²⁸ Under the Dedication Statute “[t]he scope of the right-of-way is that which is reasonable and necessary to ensure safe travel according to the facts and circumstances,”²⁹ and the state Legislature has determined that for R.S. 2477 roads, the reasonable and necessary width is 66 feet.

In light of the presumptive width of 66 feet set by the State, if the width is established by the County at something less than 66 feet it cannot be deemed unreasonable. Further, with the broad grant of authority given to the counties, and the express and plain statutory language granting to the counties, the ability to establish the width of the public highways, the trial court did not err by having Summit County establish the width of the public road dedicated to the public by use before the Appellants had any ownership interest in the land.

B. Reasonable and necessary width is greater than 8-10 feet.

Appellants insist that the roads in question are limited to 8-10 feet in width,³⁰ as the traveled path of the road, and further insist that despite the specific statutory provisions regarding the scope of the right-of-way being that which is “reasonable an necessary”³¹ to ensure safe travel, the only consideration which can be had is the historical use of the road rather than that which is necessary to ensure safe travel. This argument was also rejected by the trial court.³²

²⁸ UTAH CODE ANN. §72-3-105(4)(b)

²⁹ UTAH CODE ANN. §72-5-104(3)

³⁰ Appellants Opening Brief at pp. 11, 19

³¹ UTAH CODE ANN. §72-3-104(3).

³² R:1473.

In making the alternative claims that 1) the width is limited to 8-10 feet; or 2) the width should be limited to 18 feet; or 3) the width should be limited to some historical use, Appellants ignore the trial courts findings regarding the myriad uses of the road which exceeded the 8-10 foot width as well the trial courts own admonishment that his “feelings” regarding the 18 foot width was dicta.³³ Appellants also ignore other evidence, including the affidavit of Gerald Boyer³⁴ and Steve Jacob³⁵ which measures the existing traveled road width as between 16 feet and 45 feet and ignores the statutory provisions of the dedication statutes which set forth that the “scope of the right-of-way is that which is reasonable and necessary to ensure safe travel according to the facts and circumstances.”³⁶ It ignores too, the affidavit of Derrick Radke, Summit County Engineer which articulates that the minimum width necessary to ensure the safe travel of two vehicles in opposite directions with sufficient emergency pull out and maintenance, is 36 feet.³⁷

Appellants do not put forth that their 8-10 foot width is one which is either reasonable or safe for travel, but rather argue that the issue of width should be remanded back to the trial court, with this Court directing the trial court to determine width only in light of the use at the time of dedication and to allow only the width of the beaten track.³⁸ This invitation is contrary to the

³³R: 1687

³⁴R: 1567-1571

³⁵R: 1563-1566

³⁶UTAH CODE ANN. §72-5-104(3).

³⁷R: 1493-1496

³⁸Appellant Opening Brief at p. 29.

statutory language of UTAH CODE ANN. §72-5-104(3) regarding the scope of the right-of-way, and the long line of cases supporting the statutory language which sets the scope of the right-of-way as that which is reasonably necessary to achieve safe travel under the circumstances.

The case law interpreting that statutory provision supports a determination that the width of the road is not 8-10 feet as suggested by Appellants or even 18 feet as alternatively argued, but that which is reasonable and necessary for safe travel. “The width [is] not limited to the beaten path, but that which was reasonably safe and convenient for the use to which the road was put.”

Blonquist v. Blonquist, *supra* at 344. This theme has been consistent in Utah law.

In the landmark case of Jeremy v. Bertagnole, *supra* at 423 (*quoting Whitesides v. Green*, 13 Utah 341, 44 P. 1032, 1033 (1896)) the Utah Supreme Court stated:

‘Counsel for the appellant appear to insist that the public have only a right to travel on the beaten path, and must be confined to one rod [16.5 feet] in width. We cannot agree with counsel that, when the public have acquired the right to a public highway by user, they are limited to such width as has actually been used by them. Generally, the greater part of the travel on a county highway is doubtless confined to the track made by vehicles, but there must be room enough for travelers with wagons, carriages, or implements to pass each other, and for necessary improvements and repairs to be made so as to keep it in a suitable condition. ... [W]here the public have acquired the easement the land subject to it has passed under the jurisdiction of the public authorities, for the purpose of keeping the same in proper condition for the enjoyment thereof by the public. Such authorities are bound to keep the road open and in suitable repair, and, if obstructions be placed thereon, it is their duty to remove the same, and care for the rights of the public.’

In the case of Hunsaker v. State, 29 Utah 2d 322, 326, 509 P.2d 352, 354 (1973), the Utah Supreme Court stated:

This court has reiterated that where the public has acquired the right to a public highway by user, they are not limited to such width as has been actually used. The use carries with it such use as is reasonably necessary for the public easement of travel. Jeremy v. Bertagnole, 101 Utah 1, 116 P.2d 420 (1941), Whitesides v. Green, 13 Utah 341, 44 P.1032 (1896). In Meservey v. Guilliford 14 Idaho 113, 93 P. 780 (1908), the court observed that a statute which establishes the width of a highway should be considered as

a declaration of the width that is reasonably necessary for the convenience of the public generally.

In Butler, Crockett and Walsh Development Corp., v. Pinecrest Pipeline Operating Co., supra at 228 the Utah Supreme Court held:

“[W]here the evidence establishes dedication of a roadway...the width of such roadway is not to be ... measured by the boundaries of the beaten track.” Jeremy v. Bertagnole, 101 Utah 1, 8, 116 P.2d 420, 423 (1941). Instead, it is “ ‘ proper and necessary for the court in defining the road to determine its width, and to fix the same according to what was reasonable and necessary, under all the facts and circumstances, for the uses which were made of the road.’ ” Id. (quoting Lindsay Land & Live Stock Co. v. Churnos, 75 Utah 384, 392, 285 P. 646, 649 (1929)); *see also* Memmott v. Anderson, 642 P.2d 750, 754 (Utah 1982).

Notwithstanding the litany of cases which affirm that the width and scope is that which is reasonable and necessary for safe travel and that the scope is not limited to the beaten path as suggested by Appellants, if this Court were to look only at the fact that the road in question was an R.S. 2477 road, then under the provisions of UTAH CODE ANN. §72-5-302 there is a presumption that the scope or width of the right-of-way is 66 feet, and that the declaration of the width establishes the scope of the right-of-way as that which is reasonable and necessary for safe travel. Hunsaker, supra at 354.

In discussing the R.S. 2477 status of a Summit County road in Boyer v. Clark supra at 109, the Utah Supreme Court declared:

“In Lindsay Land & Livestock Co. v. Churnos, 75 Utah 384, 285 P. 646, 648, this Court pointed out that congress in 1866 enacted Section 2477, Revised Statutes of the United States (43 U.S.C.A. § 932) wherein it granted the right of way for public highways over public lands not reserved for public uses, and that an acceptance of such grant could be made ‘by public use without formal action by public authorities, and that continued use of the road by the public for such length of time and under such circumstances as to clearly indicate an intention on the part of the public to accept the grant is sufficient.’ We further pointed out that under our territorial laws a continuous and uninterrupted use of a road by the public for a period of 10 years was sufficient to create a public highway by use, and

where the evidence showed that ‘while the lands traversed by the road were public lands of the United States the road was used as a public thoroughfare’ for a period exceed that required by our statutes for creating a public highway by use, such evidence ‘is sufficient in law to amount to an acceptance of the congressional grant of the right of way over the public lands, and thus would constitute and create the road in question a public highway by dedication.’ *See also Jeremy v. Bertagnole*, 101 Utah 1, 116 P.2d 420, 423.

Under the provisions of the Utah Code as well as these decisions, the road in question is undoubtedly an R.S. 2477 road and Appellant’s arguments are in direct contravention of the statutory presumption of 66 feet.

The end result is that there was no error on the part of the trial court in giving the appropriate highway authority the responsibility of fixing the width of the road. The plain language of the statute grants to counties the ability to determine the width of class D roads. There is also a presumption in the statutes that the width of the road is 66 feet and a determination of anything less which still meets the statutory scope requirement of a width which “reasonable and necessary to ensure safe travel according to the facts and circumstances” does not rise to the level of reversible or clear error.

3. THE APPELLANTS HAVE NO STANDING TO ASSERT A TAKINGS CLAIM UNDER THE UTAH OR U.S. CONSTITUTIONS.

Throughout Haynes’ Brief are arguments, references, suggestions, and innuendo that by finding that the road in question was dedicated to the public by use, Summit County (or the court) has effected a “taking” under Article I, §22 of the Utah Constitution and the 5th amendment of the United States Constitution. Haynes further alleges that if either the court or Summit County determines that the width of the road is greater than the 8-10 feet asserted by

Haynes, that too would be a taking under the Utah and U.S. constitutions.

These same arguments were made before the trial court and were twice rejected. In its Memorandum Decision of March 21, 2008 the trial court stated:

“Haynes’ contention that this “road widening” could amount to a taking is rejected. Again, this public road was actually created long before Haynes purchased the property and Haynes took the property subject to the public’s right of usage. The court is now merely determining, if it must, what that usage is as far as being reasonably necessary and convenient to the public today. A width such that two vehicles can pass each other is deemed by the court to be reasonable and proper.”³⁹

After hearing argument on a motion to reconsider the trial court again confirmed its decision in the Ruling and Order dated August 28, 2008, wherein it stated:

“Haynes arguments as to the ‘takings’ are again rejected. The court determined previously and reaffirms that Haynes never had something to take. This road was public before Haynes bought the property and Haynes accepted and took the property subject to that public right.”⁴⁰

The trial court’s rulings were correct as a matter of law. Takings claims are personal in nature and property owners that acquire land after the road (including the scope or width of the road) has been established under the Dedication Statutes, take that land subject to the public’s interest in the road and cannot thereafter make a claim of a constitutional taking. Danforth v. U.S., 308 U.S. 271, 284, 60 S.Ct. 331, 236, 84 L.Ed 240 (1939) (*takings claims are personal to the property owner and do not run with the land*); Sullivan v. Condas, 76 Utah 585, 290 P.954, 957 (Utah 1930); 11A McQuillin Mun. Corp. § 32.132 (3d ed., Supp 2006). Because the Haynes Appellants took their land subject to the established road, they do not have any standing

³⁹R: 1474

⁴⁰R: 1687

to make a takings challenge and the arguments and suggestions to the contrary in their brief are without merit.

Even assuming that the Haynes parties had a compensable takings claim, a road created while the land was in the public domain prior to U.S. patents has a statutory requirement for those seeking a takings claims which can be found in UTAH CODE ANN. §72-5-107. There is no evidence that this was followed by the Haynes parties. Failure to follow the required procedure, assuming that there is standing to make a claim, creates a fatal flaw in any allegation of a taking. Without following the proper procedures, a takings claim is not ripe for decision and cannot be made. Williamson County Reg'l Planning Comm'n v. Hamilton Bank of Johnson City, 473 U.S. 172, 194, 105 S.Ct 1308, 87 Led.2d 126 (1985), Patterson v. American Fork City, 2003 UT 7 ¶35, 67 P.3d 466, 476-77. Both the federal and Utah laws require that the administrative processes of the County be exhausted before a takings claim can be had under either constitution. Id., Gardner v. Board of Commissioners of Wasatch County, 2008 UT 6, ¶¶26-29, 178 P.3d 893,901-902. It is undisputed that no administrative process has been requested or taken place.

CONCLUSION

A road established by the public during the territorial days of Utah, when the land on which the road was located was in the public domain is a public highway and the trial court did not err in finding it had been dedicated to the public by use. The road has existed in its present location since at least 1875 and continued uninterrupted, being used by the public as often as necessary, until 1932 when the Appellants first took an ownership interest in the land abutting the road.

Whether under the provisions of the R.S. 2477 laws, or under the provision of Utah's

statutory scheme showing uninterrupted public use for 10 years, the evidence was sufficient and supports the trial court's finding by clear and convincing evidence that the road had long been established as a public right-of-way or public road during the period when the land was in the public domain and prior to the Appellant's taking any ownership interest in the land.

The Utah legislature has designated counties as the highway authorities over the class B and class D road within the counties' respective jurisdictions. With that grant of authority is the ability of counties to regulate, maintain, construct, acquire and control, the roads as the highway authority. Further, the State has granted to the counties the ability to establish the width of the rights-of-way or public highways within their jurisdiction, and has granted to counties the "sole jurisdiction and control of class D roads within the county." Therefore, the trial court did not err when deferring to the express and plain statutory language granting counties the authority to establish the width of the class D road.

Inasmuch as the State of Utah has determined that roads created or accepted under the R.S. 2477 laws are "presumed to be at least 66 feet wide," a determination that the scope of the right-of-way established by use is anything less than 66 feet is reasonable and does not rise to the level of clear error warranting a reversal.

Appellant first took their interest in the land subject to the public's existing right-of-way and as a result, Appellants have no standing to assert any sort of takings claim under the Utah or U.S. constitutions. As a result, the trial court did not err in twice rejecting the Appellants takings arguments and claims for lack of standing. There can also be no constitutional or compensable taking of the land by establishing the width of a road existing prior to any property interest being held by the Appellant.

Notwithstanding the efforts Appellants to interrupt the public use of the road, the efforts were insufficient as a matter of law, to abandon the public's interest once established. As such, the road in question is and continues to be a public highway classified as a class D county road and the order of the trial court should be affirmed in its entirety.